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in various contracts.

There is a draft of "Specifications for Rebuilding and
Adding to the Madison Mill', date March 25, 1899. While this
was after the name Great Northern Paper Company was official, the
name of the company is left blank. The general contract for con-
struction was let to Greenleaf & Doring, of Lewiston, on April 13th. (1
Greenleaf had previously done work for the Manufacturing Invest-
ment Company. From knowledge of what is known to have been done
at that time, there is little doubt that it was essentially in
accordance with this specification. Of incidental interest, wages
for laborers on this job were $1.35 per day, which was increased in
May to $1.50 per day; $1.65 for night work and $1.75 for night

work if the men furnished their own boots! (2)

Involved in the conversion were the addition of a complete
40-ton groundwood mill and a hydro-electric plant; the installation
of two paper machines; the construction of a finishing room to re-
place the old pulp storage building; a rebuild of the steam plant
and a general revamp of the sulphite mill and stock system. There
is enough information from which to piece together the more im-

portant details.

The masonry wall on the river side of the canal was rebuilt,
the lower end of the canal being widened towaxd the river to make
a forebay for the water wheels in the new grinder room and power
plant. All the old water wheels were removed, and the wooden
flumes were torn out and replaced with stone and iron construction.
The grinder room and power plant were housed in a new brick struc-
ture, up-river of the wood room and adjoining its north wall. This
building was on stone foundations, over brick arch tailrace flumes.
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Between this date and September 2, 1902, the canal, apparently
mostly earth excavation, was dug; ledge was excavated and pre-
pared for the wing wall and other walls around the canal, the log
sluice and spillway abutment, and some ledge was removed in prepara-
tion for the construction of the spillway section, on both the east
and west shores. All of this work seems to have been done in the
dry. Excavation for the grinder room, wheel pits and tailrace

was almost entirely ledge, and was done in a coffer, drilling and
removing material by day, with heavy blasts at night. The site

for a "riffler room" was also excavated. This also appears to

have been done in the dry, and the material removed was used to a
fill the grinder room coffer. Concrete work was completed on the
wing wall, the head-gate section, the bottom of the log sluice and
the east canal wall. The entire bottom of the grinder room, wheel
pits and tailrace was placed "except the south strip", and the

west wall of the grinder room was at least partly completed. The

head gates and hoists were installed.

At the same time as this work was going on, or at least dur-
ing the fall and early winter, a crew under the same contract was
at work removing ledge from the river bed below the old dam at
Madison, on the Anson side, and there were complaints about
pieces of stone being blown clear across the river into the town

of Madison.

While the other jobs which the Company had done must have
had their troubles, this one seems to have had more than its share
of hard luck, beginning on November 30, 1901, when the water boy
was badly injured while playing with dynamite. On December 15, 1901,
the biggest flood experienced on the river since 1869 closed down
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It has been said that the reason for giving up the idea of
an expansion at Madison was that there was no control of flooding
on the river, and that there was no good holding ground for
large quantities of logs. These reasons would have been valid,
but if they were the determining factors per se, it is hard to
see why the project was ever contemplated at all. This statement,
however, gives rise to a conjecture, wholly the writer's and not

supported by any evidence.

In 1901, at the beginning of the first sitting of the Maine
Legislature after the building of the Millinocket mill, a bill
was introduced to charter the West Branch Driving and Reservoir
Dam Company, which would have control of the West Branch of the
Penobscot River. The Great Northern Paper Company was behind
this, and the story will be told in another place. This bill met
with the most bitter opposition, and had to be withdrawn for re-
drafting. Now, it was the sincere conviction of the management
of the Company that the security of an operation as large as that
at Millinocket required control of the flow of the river above it.
As has been seen, the proposed Madison development would have been
just as great. It seems reasonable, then, to suppose that the
Company had in mind eventual similar control of the Kennebec. 1In
view of the violent reaction to the West Branch bill, and its un-
certain future in 1902, it may be that it was decided not to fur-
ther antagonize public opinion and possibly jeopardize the essen-
tial West Branch legislation, which was to be attempted again at
the next session in 1903, by the implications of this large commit-
ment at Madison. In 1903 and 1904 there was a business recession.
By the time this was over, the Company had control on the Penobscot,
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and when expansion materialized, it was on that river. This

hypothesis might explain the rather cautious approach, and Garret
Schenck's recommendation that the job be held up so soon after it
was started. It might also explain why "dissatisfaction was rife"

At least, it is plausible.

Anyway, no more work was done. The lower power site and the
construction that had been started there were sold to the Hollings-
worth & Whitney Company for $350,000, cash, in August, 1907, after
the East Millinocket mill had been built and the Company was short
of funds. The Great Northern Paper Company had mor}gaged its
properties in June, 1902, but the lower power at Maaison, and the
construction there had been excepted. This mortage was therefore
no obstacle to the transaction, but, in its title search, Hollings-
worth & Whitney turned up the old Manufacturing Investment Company
mortgage for $500,000. This had never been satisfied, but had
been held by the Great Northern Paper Company "to defeat any
junior or inferior lien that may be attached to the property".

As we noted in an earlier chapter, the bonds were held by Col.
0.H. Payne, and we should add here "for the benefit of the title
acquired by the Great Northern Paper Co. " Hollingsworth & Whitney
felt that this situation constituted an encumbrance. Col. O.H.
Payne therefore agreed that he would undertake to arrange for dis-
charge of this mortgage not later than twenty years from the time
that he acquired the Madison mill. This seems to have been satis-
factory, but nothing was done about it in a formal way. Late in
1908, Hollingsworth & Whitney began to push, and in December of
that year Col. O.H.Payne finally made a definite commitment.

The mortgage was eventually cleared, satisfaction being recorded
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by the Somerset County Registry of Deeds in June, 1914. Payment
was made by the Interlake Paper Company, as successor to the
Manufacturing Investment Company. Hollingsworth & Whitney com-
pleted the construction of the dam and groundwood mill, and op-
erated the plant sporadically. It was shut down during the de-
pression of the 1930's, at which time they offered to sell it
back to Great Northern for a modest price, but by that time the
equipment was found to be badly deteriorated; "nothing but a lot
of rust", said William A. Whitcomb, then President, and the Com-

pany was not interested.
C

The statement has also been made that plans for an enlargement
of the Madison mill were given up because satisfactory freight
rates could not be negotiated. This, however, is believed to
refer to some possible later consideration of expansion, probably
before 1920. After 1920, as far as is known, there were never

any plans for a larger plant at Madison.

The financial record of the mill, used as a guide in writing
this chapter, is confused by changes over the years in cost re-
porting and bookkeeping procedures. It has not seemed worth
while to try to adjust the figures, and except as noted they will

be used as they appeared on the books at the time.

Pulpwood operations for the Madison mill were carried on in-
dependently of those for the other plants by the Spruce Wood De-
partment, although purchased wood for all mills was handled by
a common organization. Wood for the mill was set up in a separate
inventory for control of quantity, but the cost of all pulpwood
was lumped together in a common figure and was charged to each
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second floor of the wood room at this time, replacing the old
knife barkers. Changes were also made in the groundwood screening
system, and a steel tank was erected on the river side of the mill,
just west of the sulphite screen room, so that groundwood could

be made for a longer period on Sunday and stored there.

There does not seem to be any record of it, but along about
this time a rock-filled timber crib bulkhead, faced with plank
sheeting, was completed along the entire river bank from the filter
house to below the finishing room, and a level yard was graded
out to this, covering up the unsightly rockpile which had been the
river-bank. This work may have been started some years before,
perhaps as early as 1915, as has been noted. The new groundwood
mill was in full operation in 1924, and concurrently No. 2 mach-

ine was shifted from bag paper back to newsprint.

In 1924, a new house was built on 0ld Point Avenue for the
Superintendent, Ingleton Schenck, to, it is understood, his wife's
specifications. The architect was Donald DesGranges, of Boston,
and the house cost $34,350, which was a lot of money for the
Company to spend for such a purpose at that time. The land, and
another lot on the other side of 0l1d Point Avenue was bought from
Jared Jones, et al. As part of the transaction the Jones house
on the property was traded for the old Superintendent's house on

Heald Street.

The fifth generator unit at the Anson station went on the
line in 1925. When this was being installed, it was found that
the speed ring and hydrocone built into the foundation were not
on the same center. This condition was dismissed as an error in
construction. Correctioné were made and the installation was
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rossers which had been located in the wood room two years

before were taken out and ten one-man rossers were substituted, in
two steps. Another outdoor steel groundwood storage tank was

added in 1926, so that a 24-hour Sunday run of pulp could be stored.
In this year also, a concrete conveyor, below grade, called the
"tunnel", was built under the wood piling ground for reclaiming wood
from the pile to the wood room. New Cameron winders were also in-
stalled on both paper machines, as part of a Company-wide winderx
replacement program. The following year, a new timber crib was
built along the east side of the canal, from the wood room to the
Main Street bridge, and the yard and piling ground were filled

out to it, narrowing the canal on that side. In 1927 and 1928, the
barking drum was removed from the lower floor of the wood room
building, and was relocated outdoors, between the east side of

the canal and the wood room, with the necessary conveyors. This
installation was made on £ill, much of which was bark, and in later
years a good deal of trouble was experienced with the operation of
the drum, due to settling of the foundations. At this time also
the wooden floors which still remained in the beater room and on
the blowpit floor level in the sulphite mill were replaced in con-
crete. In March, 1928, the roof of a little brick building right
alongside the railroad track just north of the grist mill used for
storage, caved in. The Superintendent, fearing that he would be
criticized for not keeping his property in shape, was all shook up
about this, but it was a blessing in disguise. With the wreckage
of the roof removed, this building made a handy little pocket for

the storage of limerock, and was so used thereafter.

Between August and November, 1928, the height of the flash-
boards on the dam was increased to five feet, raising the pond to
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out. Washing drums were added to the beaters, and a makeshift
system for mixing chlorine bleach, with some storage tanks, was
provided. The result was almost comic. It was found that it was
possible to bleach a small amount of pulp, after a fashion, but
the washing was inadequate and the bits of iron rust, scale and

bark refused to turn white. This bleaching effort was abandoned.

The sulphite pulp, while acceptable in the small proportion
required for newsprint, was also found to be too dirty for the
new market papers which the mill was trying to make. Therefore,
later in the year, a sawdust screen was added to the wood room
chip system; a riffler was built along the east wall of the sul-
phite screen room; ten flat screens were added; some of the old
iron pipe in the system was removed and replaced with wood lined
pipe and a small amount of copper, and a third Bird screen was
provided for No. 2 machine. A tiny laboratory, equipped with
rudimentary testing equipment, was built in the overhead passage-
way between the beater room and the acid plant -- at a cost of
$1,008! WwWith these changes, it was possible to produce salable
sulphite grades. Forecasting the situation which was to prevail
for many years, No. 2 machine made, in the last quarter of 1929,
dry finish white and manilla wrapping paper, various colored water
finish wrapping papers, sulphite parchment cut for use as "slap
sheets" in meat markets; imitation parchment, containing some
groundwood, for the same use; white bag paper with a watermarked
stripe produced by using a second felt with a regularly spaced
heavy warp thread; waxing paper and twisting paper, all of this

amounting to a total of only some 2,000 tons.

While the Madison mi;; had been receiving a pexcentage of
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and was a colored broke nightmare.

No. 2 machine was even worse, making two grades of Manilla
Butcher's Water Finish, Butcher's Pink Dry Finish, three grades
of blue textile wrapping, white textile, green textile, ground-
wood school drawing paper, several colors of silk finish butcher's
paper =-- a high water finish sulphite sheet; shell paper in white
and pink for dynamite cartridges, textile papers calender stained
green, blue or buff on one side, box liner paper, including some
"cheviot" and "cloud" made respectively by mixing previously color-
ed fibres with white stock or white fibres with colored stock;
bulking book; a water finish screenings sheet; two grades of imi~
tation parchment; a polychrome hanging for embossing, made by drip-
ping spots of color on the wet paper before it entered the dryers;
a light-weight sheet for conversion into carbon paper, and Braille
paper, made from screenings. During this period there was a lot
of experimenting with wax size and wax emulsions added to the water
boxes at the finish stack. This was in an effort, partly success-
ful, to compete with the "blood-proof" papers made from semi-
bleached kraft, which by this time had become important in the
market paper field, and wax emulsions were used on the water finish
papers for many years. A number of other grades were tried and

abandoned.

Most of the papers made on No. 2 machine at this point were
so-called sulphite grades, but a majority of them contained some
groundwood. Wherever the color permitted, a proportion of dry
broke was put into the furnish for these papers, which did not do
the strength any good. When it was felt that the limit had been
reached on the use of dry broke in this manner, it was put into
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remained a mystery. There is no question that a satisfactory
sheet could have been made, given time and money, and while the
manufacturing people continued to hope that the operation could
be revived, it was too late. The Sales Department had had enough.
Stock on hand was converted a little at a time and sold at a sub-
stantial loss, and this project, which had showed such a promis-
ing start, was abandoned in October 1950. The potential of it
can be measured by the fact that nearly half of the capital ex-
penditure was recovered in profits in this short period of opera-
tion, in spite of the losses incurred at the latter end. In 1951
and 1952, a small amount of creped paper was made on the experimen-
tal machine at Millinocket and shipped to Madison, where it was
converted into industrial type towels, both sheets and rolls, in
plain wrappers, to oblige one customer who for some forgotten

reason needed a groundwood towel, but this was incidental.

This story has been told in some detail for two reasons.
First, it was a classic example of the failure of a project which
might have changed the history of the mill, because of higher
management's sublime confidence in the theory that with sufficient
sweat bricks could be made without straw. Second, the GNP symbol

came from this fiasco, in a roundabout way.

Apart from the policy of playing down the name of the Com-
pany in introducing the new product, the Sales Department wished
to avoid any possible identification with the Northern Paper Mills,
of Green Bay, Wisconsin. Confusion occurred anyway, but this is
incidental. It was the thought that the Company's name should be
displayed inconspicuously in connection with some kind of trade-
mark, something which Great Northern had never had. The letters
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of packages of 500 small sheets) had been done by hand. In 1951,
the volume of Duplication Bond and other small sheet business had
grown to such an extent that a new Smith & Winchester press cut-
ter and a Lynch Morpac ream sealing machine were bought, a little
electric hoist was provided to move paper to and from the basement
of the finishing room, and the small sheet operation was moved into

the basement early in the following year.

With work on the new bleach plant and stock system well under
way and the mill showing good earnings, the manufacturing people
were emboldened to make another stab at getting approval on the
rest of the recommendations in the report of the year before. A
specification was drawn up for a paper machine to replace No. 2,
and preliminary estimates were obtained, one from a firm which had
never built a paper machine, but was wishful. A tentative plan was
worked out to add a fifth motor-driven grinder of the Great North-
ern hydraulic type, arranged to fit into a possible future replace-
ment of the old Warren grinders. The intention was to send up the
grinder job as a trial balloon at the November 1951 meeting of the
Board, and be ready to follow up with the paper machine if the
climate seemed to be favorable. The submission was duly forwarded
to New York, but never got onto the table, as the Directors had

other things on their minds at that time.

Meanwhile, Madison had another first, in a departure from
Great Northern tradition which would seem unimportant now, but was
almost heretical then. What the color scheme, if any, may have been
in Great Northern mills in the very early days is not known. When
the writer first saw the mills in 1924 there was a lot of dark green

around, but just at that time all new paint, as it was required,
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condition resulted in many rejections and a raft of price adjust-
ments. Nevertheless, overall reception of the new grades was not

bad, and regular business began to build up.

In the fall of 1951, the Company had hired John H. "Pete"
Heuer to remake the Bureau of Tests, which story will be told
in another place. By 1952, the Bureau was in position to lend
substantial aid to the Madison mill in the way of quality con-
trol, and, for the first time, formal specifications and toler-
ances were drawn up for every grade and a more authoritative sys-
tem of control was set up in the mill. By the last quarter of
that year things had settled down a bit; production was up six
percent over the previous quarter and was about as high as it
ever had been at any time; it was not necessary to take so many
orders for supercalendered paper, so that serious complaints had
dropped off considerably, and the Sales Department was promoting
business under trade names such as "Norprint" and "Norbright"
for a number of grades. 1In 1952 the mill made about $280,000.
This was a severe drop from the year before, not unexpected, in
view of the introduction Qf the new grades, but much greater than
anticipated. It was not all due to operation. Labor and other
costs were rising. Wood cost had gone up substantially between
1951 and 1952, hurting Madison more than the other mills because
of its much higher chemical pulp formula and the necessity of hard
culling of wood for quality. 1In this year also, accounting changes
compelled Madison for the first time to bear its own depreciation,
although it so happened that at this particular time the change
made little difference. The situation on depreciation was noted

earlier in this chapter.
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earnings for the year would be at the low point of the next ten,
and that Madison would contribute a loss of some $400,000. This
latter proposition was unacceptable. On March 19th, M. C.
McDonald addressed a memorandum to Roy V. Weldon, Executive
Vice-President, C. M. Carrier, Vice-President and Manager of
Manufacture and the writer as Assistant Manager, listing Madi-
son losses averaging $1,600 per day for the year to that date
and reading in part:

"From the figures, we seem to have an impossible posi-
tion and I can see no reason for long delay answering the
$64 question, unless it can be proven that somehow or another
we can improve our position by at least $20 a ton....I would
suggest that you get together on this problem and....let me

have your full report and recommendations."

As a result of this, a task force was set up to study
Madison once more. The terms of reference contained an implied
injunction against spending any important money, frustrating any
creative program in advance. This committee reviewed the oper-
ation of the mill for the past twenty-five years, going over
much of the ground that has been covered in this chapter of our
story. In this study, it was developed that had the mill borne
its own depreciation its average earnings during that entire

period would have been only about $21,000 a year.

The essence of the final reasoning and the majority con-
clusion of the committee is contained in the following excerpts
from its report:

"While certain parts of the mill operation are effi-
cient, it is not overall an efficient plant, and as a unit
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During the first week in July, 1954, in meetings at Madison,
details of the shut-down of No. 2 machine were worked out with
the union locals, and on July 10th the operation of this unit
was discontinued. Some orders, which could be made only on No. 2
machine had of course to be dropped. One of the casualties was
the "ticket" paper in narrow rolls, which had been regular business
since 1950. The remaining water finish sulphite papers, mainly
Butchers' Fibre and the textile sheets, were simply discontinued.
The Duplication Bond operation was turned over, by agreement with
the customer, to the Pejepscot Paper Company. The crews of the two
paper machines were consolidated, with the senior men receiving
preference. The finishing room was also seriouly affected-by
this move. Cutter operation was curtailed, and the crew involv-
ed in sheeting operations was called in only as needed. Grinder
room operation was reduced to a normal five-day schedule, run-
ning longer only when absolutely necessary. The lay-off was
worked down as far as possible to the newest employees in point of
mill seniority. The supervisory force was reduced to skeletal
proportions, by transfer of personnel to the other mills, arrange-
ments being made with what was then the Research & Control Depart-
ment at Millinocket to supply supervision for emergencies and

during vacation periods.

Little new work was done this year. An extension about
thirty feet square was added to the old repair shop. The
other mills had long been provided with roll heading machines
and electric trucks, but at this time the Madison mill was still
up—-ending rolls of paper on the finishing room floor, holding the

top heads in place with wooden weights while the glue cured,
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line for this purpose had been discussed, and the idea was that
Great Northern might latch on to this offer as a means of saving
the operation. There was merit in this, of course, although
Madison had troubles other than a power shortage. Roy V. Weldon,
the Company's Executive Vice-President, had the matter in charge,
and while the price being talked about was higher than Great
Northern was willing to consider under any conditions, the offer
was not summarily dismissed, but was stirred into the mixture

of ideas swirling around at that time.

It just so happened that right at this point there was a
body of opinion within the Board of Directors that the Company
had accumulated too much timberland, and that some of the value
which it represented should be converted into cash to be used
toward the cost of the expansion at East Millinocket. Nearly
100,000 acres of this land was in the Kennebec watershed, so
located that wood from it was unavailable to the Penobscot mills

at any reasonable transportation cost.

With the door open to negotiations of some kind, it would
have been strange if something unusual did not come out of this
set of circumstances, and it did, in the form of a counter-offer
by the Company to sell the Madison mill to Hollingsworth & Whitney,
along with a substantial block of Kennebec timberland. This
last was bait, but coming from the Great Northern Paper Company,
was about as startling as an offer by the United States Govern-
ment to sell the White House, and could hardly be ignored. Holl-

ingsworth & Whitney took it under advisement.

The matter remained open on a refusal basis during the ne-
gotiations which led to Hollingsworth & Whitney being taken over
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